



Annual Report on Official Languages 2023–2024

Catalogue Publication Information

This publication is available in alternative formats upon request.

This publication is also available in PDF and HTML format at the following address: https://www.canada.ca/en/canadian-heritage/services/official-languages-bilingualism/publications.html

© His Majesty the King in Right of Canada as represented by the Minister of Canadian Identity and Culture and Minister responsible for Official Languages, 2025

Catalogue No.: CH10-2E-PDF

ISSN: 2562-704X

An acknowledgement to First Nations, Inuit and Métis in Canada

In the spirit of truth and reconciliation, the Government of Canada is committed to working in partnership with Indigenous Peoples. This commitment involves recognizing and meaningfully addressing the enduring impacts of colonization, while fostering a better understanding of First Nations, Inuit and Métis worldviews. It also requires an expanded awareness of the responsibility shared by everyone living on these lands to right past wrongs and forge more just and equitable relationships with Indigenous communities across the country.

We would like to begin by acknowledging that the lands on which we live, work and gather, as well as the digital infrastructure enabling our work, lie within the traditional territories of numerous Indigenous nations across the country. We also acknowledge that our national headquarters in Gatineau, Quebec, is on the traditional, unceded, unsurrendered territory of the Algonquin Anishinaabe People. Since time immemorial, that location has served as a place of meeting and exchange for the Indigenous nations who have always had a presence there.

Indigenous languages are an integral part of the cultures and identities that make up Canadian society. The official languages reform and the revitalization and strengthening of Indigenous languages are two priorities being pursued simultaneously by the Government of Canada. The modernized *Official Languages Act* recognizes that nothing in the Act is to be interpreted in a manner that is inconsistent with the maintenance and enhancement of languages other than English or French, nor with the reclamation, revitalization and strengthening of Indigenous languages. In keeping with the spirit of the *Indigenous Languages Act*, the amended *Official Languages Act* and the new *Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act* state clearly that nothing in those Acts is to interfere with support for and the promotion of Indigenous languages. At the same time, numerous Indigenous people also use English and French on a daily basis, and many are members of official language minority communities.

Under the *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act*, the Government of Canada has a constitutional duty to consult Indigenous Peoples and accommodate Indigenous rights when considering measures that might adversely impact their potential or established Aboriginal or treaty rights. In addition, the *Official Languages Act* and the *Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act* provide for mandatory pre-consultations before regulatory proposals are tabled in Parliament, and the Government must actively seek the views of Indigenous communities and make the necessary changes to those proposals. Beyond merely satisfying its duty to consult, the Government of Canada's objective is to better understand the unique perspectives, issues and values that drive Indigenous communities, in order to ensure that Government initiatives reflect the needs and priorities of those communities.

Message from the Minister

As Minister of Canadian Identity and Culture and Minister responsible for Official Languages, I am pleased to present the Annual Report on Official Languages for 2023–2024. This past year witnessed two triumphs that were the culmination of sustained efforts and outstanding teamwork: royal assent to the *Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages*—which modernized and strengthened the *Official Languages Act* and enacted the new *Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act*—on June 20, 2023; and the release of *Action Plan for*



Official Languages 2023–2028: Protection—Promotion—Collaboration—the new government-wide official languages strategy—on April 26, 2023. These two achievements, a testament to our commitment to the official languages, have set the stage for our efforts in years to come.

The focus has now shifted to implementing the modernized *Official Languages Act*. This will involve the adoption of two regulatory regimes: one for the new *Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act* and one for administrative monetary penalties, a new power to be added to the range of tools available to the Commissioner of Official Languages.

The modernization of the *Official Languages Act*—especially Part VII, which seeks to advance the equality of status and use of English and French in Canada—has resulted in important changes, and we have every right to be proud of those changes. The Department of Canadian Heritage has played a key role by assuming its new responsibilities under Part VII and working with its partners to ensure a smooth transition to the new legislative framework.

Action Plan for Official Languages 2023–2028, for its part, provides for new investments of \$1.4 billion over five years, bringing the total investment in official languages to an all-time high of \$4.1 billion over five years. A major goal of this investment is to protect, and enhance the vitality of, official language minority communities, while giving expression to the hopes, challenges and concerns expressed by Canadians during the 2022 Cross-Canada Official Languages Consultations.

And so it is with pride that I present this report on the 2023–2024 achievements of the Department of Canadian Heritage and federal institutions in support of the official languages and the development of official language minority communities.

Enjoy!

The Honourable Steven Guilbeault

List of acronyms and abbreviations

Acronym or abbreviation	Definition
Acfas	Association francophone pour le savoir
Action Plan 2018–2023	Action Plan for Official Languages 2018–2023: Investing in Our Future
Action Plan 2023–2028	Action Plan for Official Languages 2023–2028: Protection–Promotion–Collaboration
Agreement	Collaboration Agreement for the Development of Arts and Culture in the Francophone Minority Communities of Canada
Centre	Centre for Innovation in Francophone Immigration
Corridor	Corridor for the Selection and Retention of French Teachers in Canada
Council	Ministers' Council on the Canadian Francophonie
ESCQs	English-speaking communities of Quebec
ESDC	Employment and Social Development Canada
FMC	Francophone minority community
IRCC	Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada
OLA	Official Languages Act
OLMC	Official language minority community
PCH	Canadian Heritage
Policy	Policy on Francophone Immigration
Protocol	Protocol for Agreements for Minority-Language Education and Second-Language Instruction
TBS	Treasury Board Secretariat
UFPBA	Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act

Table of Contents

An acknowledgement to First Nations, Inuit and Métis in Canada	3
Message from the Minister	4
ist of acronyms and abbreviations	6
ist of tables	9
ntroduction	10
Section 1: Towards a substantive equality of official languages	11
1.1 Governance, roles and responsibilities	11
1.2 Regulatory implementation	12
Section 2: Strengthening government leadership	14
2.1 Partnerships to Strengthen Part VII of the Official Languages Act	14
2.2 Official languages awareness events	16
2.3 Estimation of the number of children of rights-holders	17
Section 3: Restoring the demographic weight of French linguistic minority communities	19
3.1 Policy on Francophone Immigration	19
3.2 Targeted expansion of promotion and recruitment support	20
3.3 Corridor for the Selection and Retention of French Teachers in Canada	20
3.4 Strengthened Integration Pathway	21
3.5 Centre for Innovation in Francophone Immigration	22
3.6 Francophone lens integrated into economic immigration programs	23
3.7 Helping newcomers learn English and/or French	23
3.8 Use of French in international diplomacy	23
Section 4: Advancing opportunities to learn the two official languages	25
4.1 Supporting the provincial and territorial governments	25
4.2 Developing knowledge of the first official language	26
4.3 Supporting learning and appreciation of the second official language	28
Section 5: Strengthening our communities	31
5.1 Supporting the provincial and territorial governments	31
5.2 Supporting the development of arts and culture	32

5.3 Supporting employment and economic development	34
5.4 Improving access to justice in both official languages	36
Conclusion	38
Appendix 1 – 2023–2024 Summary of Government Investments in Official Languages	39
Appendix 2 – 2023–2024 Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Component	49
Appendix 3 – 2023–2024 Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Province or Terr	itory
	52
Appendix 4 – 2023–2024 Education Expenditures	56
Appendix 5 – School Enrolment in 2022–2023	60

List of tables

- Table 1: 2023–2024 Summary of Government Investments in Official Languages
- Table 2: Expenditures of Canadian Heritage's Official Languages Support Programs Grand Total
- Table 3: Expenditures of the Development of Official Language Communities Program by Component
- Table 4: Expenditures of the Enhancement of Official Languages Program by Component
- Table 5: Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Province or Territory
- Table 6: Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Province or Territory
- Table 7: Expenditures of the "Community Life" Component of the Development of Official Language Communities Program by Province and Territory
- Table 8: Expenditures of the Enhancement of Official Languages Program by Province or Territory
- Table 9: Breakdown of Education Expenditures Support to Provincial and Territorial Governments
- Table 10: Breakdown of Education Expenditures Support to Organizations
- Table 11: Minority-Language Education Expenditures by Province or Territory Intergovernmental Cooperation
- Table 12: Second-Language Learning Expenditures by Province or Territory Intergovernmental Cooperation
- Table 13: Enrolment in Second-Language Instruction Programs in Majority System Schools Total for Canada as a Whole
- Table 14: Enrolment in Minority-Language Education Programs All of Canada
- Table 15: Enrolment in Second-Language Instruction Programs in Majority Education System Schools by Province or Territory
- Table 16: Enrolment in Minority-Language Education Programs by Province or Territory

Introduction

The year 2023–2024 was transitional for official languages. The Government of Canada continued to listen to Canadians, including official language minority communities (OLMCs), while taking their needs and priorities into account in implementing its new milestones.

The <u>Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages</u>, which received royal assent on June 20, 2023, reformed the official languages regime and modernized the <u>Official Languages Act</u> (OLA), marking a turning point in the protection and promotion of the official languages in a diverse and evolving society. In 2023–2024, the Government of Canada worked to implement the resulting new legislative and administrative provisions.

<u>Action Plan for Official Languages 2023–2028: Protection–Promotion–Collaboration</u> (Action Plan 2023–2028) was unveiled on April 26, 2024. It represented a historic investment of \$4.1 billion for the 2023 to 2028 period, including \$1.4 billion in new funding, and featured 33 new key initiatives and 49 renewed initiatives in various sectors essential to the vitality of OLMCs.

An important pillar of the official languages reform, Action Plan 2023–2028 is based on important principles such as promoting and protecting the official languages; collaborating with federal partners, provincial and territorial governments, and community organizations; and strengthening education and community vitality. The Action Plan employs a "by and for" delivery model that takes into account the needs and priorities of communities. Canadian Heritage (PCH) coordinates the implementation of this ambitious plan with some 20 partner institutions.

This annual report begins with an overview of PCH's work in support of the implementation of the *Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages*, including the regulatory process. The balance of the report presents a sample of initiatives implemented by federal institutions in the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 to enhance OLMC vitality and advance the two official languages. Given that the first year of an initiative often serves to lay the groundwork for future results, the results associated with certain initiatives will be presented in future annual reports.

Section 1: Towards a substantive equality of official languages

The year 2023–2024 was transitional for official languages, with the modernization of the OLA and the unveiling of Action Plan 2023–2028. The modernization of the OLA resulted in numerous changes, including new or enhanced duties and responsibilities for federal institutions, as well as new Government of Canada commitments in Part VII.

In 2023–2024, PCH continued to deliver on its mandate, which included implementing its new responsibilities. In addition, PCH worked with its partners to implement its shared responsibilities. Through its efforts, the Department also made steady progress on the regulatory proposals. The work to implement the OLA and its commitments is ongoing.

1.1 Governance, roles and responsibilities

On June 20, 2023, the *Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages* received royal assent. That Act reformed and strengthened the OLA and enacted the *Use of French in Federally Regulated Private Businesses Act* (UFPBA).

Under Part VII of the OLA, the Minister responsible for Official Languages is in charge of advancing the equality of status and use of English and French in Canadian society. To that end, the Minister may take measures to support the development and promotion of Francophone culture in Canada.

The Minister responsible for Official Languages is also tasked with developing and maintaining, in consultation with the President of the Treasury Board, a government-wide strategy (i.e. Action Plan 2023–2028) setting out the overall official languages priorities, having that strategy tabled in Parliament and making it accessible to the public. PCH is responsible for coordinating that strategy. Backed by historic funding of \$4.1 billion, including \$1.4 billion in new monies, Action Plan 2023–2028 is an important instrument for horizontal collaboration between federal institutions and represents a major share of the Government of Canada's concerted efforts in support of official languages.

Under the modernized OLA, the President of the Treasury Board is responsible for exercising leadership within the Government of Canada in relation to the implementation of that Act. The Treasury Board coordinates the implementation of Part IV (Communications with and Services to the Public), Part V (Language of Work) and Part VI (Participation of English-Speaking and French-Speaking Canadians) of the OLA. In addition, under Part VII (Advancement of Equality of Status and Use of English and French), the Treasury Board is now responsible for establishing, in consultation with PCH, policy instruments concerning two obligations of federal institutions: taking positive measures in support of the Government of Canada commitments with respect to advancing the equality of status and use of English and French; and taking the necessary measures to promote

the inclusion of language clauses when negotiating agreements with the provincial and territorial governments.

The modernized OLA also clarifies and strengthens the role of the President of the Treasury Board in ensuring the compliance of federal institutions. The Treasury Board is responsible for supervising those institutions and monitoring their compliance with their official languages obligations, particularly with regard to Parts IV, V, VI and VII of the OLA.

In 2023–2024, PCH continued to work with the Treasury Board on transferring responsibilities formerly assigned to the Minister responsible for Official Languages but now assigned to the President of the Treasury Board. The changes made to the OLA have had the effect of clarifying the roles of federal institutions, enhancing collaboration, assigning an expanded role in the governance of official languages to a central agency, and promoting greater compliance on the part of federal institutions.

To implement the new UFPBA and certain provisions of the OLA, three sets of regulations are needed. The Treasury Board is responsible for working with PCH to develop regulations on positive measures taken by federal institutions under Part VII of the modernized OLA. For its part, PCH is responsible for developing regulations fixing certain parameters of the new regime for federally regulated private businesses, as well as regulations on the new administrative monetary penalties regime that will be available to the Commissioner of Official Languages.

1.2 Regulatory implementation

In 2023–2024, PCH continued to support the implementation of the *Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages*. The Department delivered nearly 30 presentations to federal institutions and target groups to initiate dialogue on the new regulatory proposals.

PCH subsequently focused on laying the groundwork for the regulatory consultations, while also working closely with the Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS) to support the implementation of the *Act for the Substantive Equality of Canada's Official Languages*, in keeping with the new roles and responsibilities set out in the modernized OLA. Budget 2024 allocated funds to PCH, TBS and the Office of the Commissioner of Official Languages to support that implementation. Budget 2024 also proposes to provide \$9.6 million over three years, starting in 2024-25, to the Courts Administration Service to enhance its capacity to deliver translated decisions by federal courts.

In the spring of 2024, an online questionnaire was made available to all Canadians to obtain their thoughts and feedback on various aspects of the two regulatory initiatives. Between May 9 and July 17, 2024, over 1,300 questionnaires were completed. The responses have guided the development of the two sets of regulations within PCH's purview:

- regulations establishing the UFPBA regime these regulations would address such matters as the size
 of business subject to the UFPBA and what constitutes a region with a strong Francophone presence
 for the purposes of the Act; and
- regulations under the OLA circumscribing the Commissioner of Official Languages to impose administrative monetary penalties on certain entities.

The spring and summer of 2024 also saw targeted pre-consultations with stakeholders who had an interest in the two new sets of regulations:

- More than 30 meetings were held with upwards of 300 individuals, including sectoral organizations, provincial and territorial governments, federal institutions, official languages stakeholders, employee and employer representatives from federally regulated private businesses, advocacy organizations, and entities that could potentially be subject to the Commissioner of Official Languages' power to impose administrative monetary penalties.
 - The development process for the UFPBA regulations involved some 23 meetings bringing together over 250 individuals representing more than 150 organizations.
 - The development process for the administrative monetary penalties regulations involved some 18 meetings bringing together more than 140 individuals representing nearly 80 organizations.
- Over 10 briefs were received.
- The pre-consultation process continued in the fall and winter of 2024 with groups representing Indigenous Peoples.

Section 2: Strengthening government leadership

The Government of Canada demonstrates leadership in the area of official languages by advancing the equality of status and use of English and French in Canadian society, and by enhancing the vitality of OLMCs and supporting and assisting their development. Under the modernized OLA, every federal institution is required to apply an official languages lens to its policies and programs, and determine through consultationand evidence-based analysis whether positive measures should be taken in support of OLMCs or the advancement of the official languages, or whether mitigating measures should be implemented. To achieve its objectives, the Government relies on partnerships that engage and mobilize federal institutions.

Action Plan 2023–2028 has established the Partnerships to Strengthen Part VII of the *Official Languages Act*, an initiative originally announced as the Centre for Strengthening Part VII of the Official Languages Act. This joint PCH–TBS initiative ensures government-wide engagement on positive measures in support of the minister responsible for horizontal coordination of official languages.

In addition, the modernized OLA contains a Government of Canada commitment to periodically estimating the number of children of minority-language education rights-holders. Thanks to the investments in Action Plan 2023–2028, Statistics Canada was able to begin the work of providing the provincial and territorial governments, school boards and OLMCs with data to support analysis and decision-making.

2.1 Partnerships to Strengthen Part VII of the Official Languages Act

2023–2024 was the first year of implementation of the **Partnerships to Strengthen Part VII of the** *Official Languages Act* initiative. For PCH, this initiative will enable better coordination and implementation of the investments in Action Plan 2023–2028 and foster greater collaboration and regional coordination among the partners and key stakeholders, OLMCs and Canadians more broadly. Collaboration with external stakeholders is based on a "by and for" approach, ensuring that their priorities and interests are taken into account in the decision-making and implementation processes for initiatives.

In 2023–2024, the main focus was transferring, from PCH to TBS, the functions of governance, coordination and support for federal institutions in relation to Part VII, as provided for in the modernized OLA. This included transitioning coordination of the Committee of Assistant Deputy Ministers on Official Languages Secretariat, a keystone in the governance structure of the Official Languages Program. Work also began on transferring the support-to-federal-institutions functions. From now on, TBS will be in charge of the community of practice comprising the resource persons in every federal institution who are responsible for the implementation of section 41 of the OLA.

In 2023–2024, PCH also continued working to raise awareness among federal institutions about their enhanced obligations under the OLA. For example, PCH worked with TBS to deliver over 20 presentations and information sessions on the modernized OLA to various federal institutions. The initiative also focused on regional coordination, interdepartmental cooperation and the organization of events to advance the equality of status and use of English and French in Canadian society.

Regional Official Languages Network

The year 2023–2024 witnessed the establishment of PCH's **Regional Official Languages Network**, which seeks to foster the exchange of information and best practices, serve as a forum for discussion of regional priorities and issues, and promote an innovative and experimental approach to developing new practices.

The regional officers who make up the Network provide strategic intelligence on their regions, maintain ongoing dialogue with regional community stakeholders, create opportunities for dialogue between federal institutions and OLMCs, and forge ties between federal institutions and community stakeholders at the provincial/territorial level.

In this way, the Network supports improved coordination, information sharing and partnerships between federal institutions, communities and regional players in the area of official languages, contributing to more effective regional implementation of language policy across Canada.

Calendar of consultations with official language minority communities

During PCH's recent consultations with OLMCs as part of the Partnerships to Strengthen Part VII of the *Official Languages Act* initiative, organizations reiterated their desire to see federal institutions harmonize their approaches to consulting the main official languages stakeholders.

In response, PCH launched a pilot project on the GCcollab platform, with the aim of creating an interactive calendar of dialogue and consultation activities planned by federal institutions. This evergreen schedule will help federal institutions coordinate their activities, while helping stakeholders and organizations plan and prepare for events. The calendar can also help identify synergies and make strategic connections, in the interest of more effective collaboration.

2.2 Official languages awareness events

The year 2023–2024 was also marked by numerous events showcasing the official languages and OLMCs across the country. This year served notably to highlight the richness and diversity of Canada's English- and French-speaking communities and speakers.

Best Practices Forum on Official Languages

In 2023–2024, PCH once again collaborated with TBS and the Council of the Network of Official Languages Champions to deliver an ambitious program for the **Best Practices Forum on Official Languages**, held February 5 to 9, 2024. Nearly 1,400 federal employees took part in the six virtual workshops offered by various federal institutions, who shared inspiring best practices involving various aspects of official languages. Kiosks and best-practice resources were also available on the Forum's GCwiki page.

A high point of the Forum was when 2,000 participants gathered to hear "Spotlight on the Modernized Official Languages Act," a talk featuring Isabelle Mondou, Deputy Minister of Canadian Heritage and Champion of the Public Service Official Languages Community, and the Honourable Randy Boissonnault, then Minister of Employment, Workforce Development and Official Languages.

International Day of La Francophonie

On March 20, 2024, in partnership with the Canada School of Public Service, PCH held a virtual event entitled **International Day of La Francophonie 2024: Let's Talk About French Culture!** The event, which was open to the public, showcased Canada's Francophone arts community and featured panellists representing Francophone minority communities (FMCs) and the English-speaking communities of Quebec (ESCQs).

The panellists talked about their artistic backgrounds and how bilingualism had enriched their careers. Thanks to the simultaneous interpretation service, a number of participants were able to access the event in English, helping foster an appreciation of the other official language and the associated culture across Canada.

During the talk, a promotional video for the Rendez-vous de la Francophonie, sponsored by the Dialogue Foundation, was screened to encourage participants to attend the events being held across the country in celebration of International Day of La Francophonie 2024.

2.3 Estimation of the number of children of rights-holders

Statistics Canada makes available data that informs the decision-making of federal institutions, provincial and territorial governments, stakeholders and community organizations. These data allow for a better understanding of official-languages and OLMC issues, and help guide policy and program development.

The modernized OLA contains a new Government of Canada commitment to periodically estimating the number of children whose parents have, under section 23 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*, the right to have their children receive their instruction in the language of the English or French linguistic minority population of a province or territory.

Statistics Canada met its objectives for the first year of the new Action Plan 2023–2028 initiative by releasing two analytical products and other information on children eligible for instruction in the minority official language. In addition, the Department began the work of assessing the feasibility of projecting the population of children eligible for minority-language instruction. Consultations were also carried out in relation to the development of such projections.

In 2023–2024, Statistics Canada also delivered the following presentations on population projections for children eligible for instruction in the minority official language:

- September 29, 2023, with PCH: Projections of Children Eligible to Instruction in the Minority Official Language – Objectives, Methods and Data Sources – feasibility study
- February 26, 2024, with the Quebec Community Groups Network and the Quebec English School Boards Association: Projections of Children Eligible for Instruction in the Minority Official Language and Language Projections, Development Plan, 2023 to 2028
- March 18, 2024, with the Fédération des communautés francophones et acadienne du Canada and the Fédération nationale des conseils scolaires francophones: Projections des enfants admissibles à l'instruction dans la langue officielle minoritaire et projections linguistiques, Plan de développement, 2023 à 2028.

The year 2023–2024 also saw the release of the following publications on instruction in the minority official language:

- The School Closest to Home: Proximity of French-Language Elementary Schools and Enrolment in the Maritime Provinces
- Maps and Key Facts on Participation in Regular French Programs in Canada Outside Quebec, 2021

• <u>Instruction in the Minority Official Language of Eligible School-Aged Children, by Eligibility Criterion, Age Group and Level, 2021</u>

The year 2023–2024 also marked the start of the work of updating the open database on French-language elementary and secondary schools in Canada outside Quebec, and English-language schools in Quebec, with the first release scheduled for 2024–2025. In addition, a presentation entitled "Census 2021: Children Eligible to French-Language Schools in Canada Outside Quebec" was delivered at the National Summit on Education held in Ottawa in April 2023.

Section 3: Restoring the demographic weight of French linguistic minority communities

In recent decades, Francophone minority communities across Canada have seen a sharp decline in their demographic weight. Between 1971 and 2021, the Francophone share of the population outside Quebec fell from 6.1% to 3.5%. FMCs are relying on Francophone immigration to counter this demographic decline.

The modernized OLA contains a commitment to restoring and increasing the demographic weight of French linguistic minority communities. It requires the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration to adopt a policy on Francophone immigration to enhance the vitality of French linguistic minority communities in Canada. That policy is to include objectives, targets and indicators, as well as a statement whereby the Government of Canada recognizes the importance of Francophone immigration to enhancing the vitality of French linguistic minority communities, including by restoring and increasing their demographic weight. In working to achieve these goals, Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (IRCC) has adopted a collaborative approach.

The funding for Francophone immigration in *Action Plan for Official Languages 2018–2023: Investing in Our Future* (Action Plan 2018–2023), which helped meet the Francophone immigration targets, has been fully renewed. Building on this progress, Action Plan 2023–2028 makes further significant investments to reverse the decline in the demographic weight of Francophone minority communities, and to contribute to the vitality and development of these communities through Francophone immigration.

3.1 Policy on Francophone Immigration

On January 16, 2024, the Minister of Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship released the **Policy on Francophone Immigration** (the Policy), which is accompanied by an implementation plan featuring over 40 measures spanning the entire immigration continuum.

Among other things, the Policy calls for an overhaul of the governance of Francophone immigration at IRCC. In the fall of 2023, the Francophone Immigration Branch at IRCC was consolidated so as to cover the entire immigration continuum and lend an integrated, coordinated approach to the Department's efforts. As a result, those efforts, particularly with regard to the Policy's flagship promotional measures, have become more coherent. In the coming years, this coordination of efforts within IRCC will undoubtedly pay dividends in the Policy's action areas, thereby fostering FMC development.

In line with the Policy, on October 24, 2024, new targets for Francophone immigration were announced in the 2025–2027 Immigration Levels Plan: 8.5% in 2025, 9.5% in 2026 and 10% in 2027, an increase over the 2023 targets for those same years. These were in addition to the Plan's other measures to strengthen Francophone communities outside Quebec and support their economic prosperity.

In 2023–2024, IRCC and its community partners renewed the terms of reference of the IRCC-FMC Committee in conjunction with community representatives. In addition, IRCC worked with other federal departments, including PCH, to establish collaboration/consultation tables on Francophone immigration and on restoring the demographic weight of Francophones outside Quebec. IRCC, in conjunction with the provincial and territorial governments, launched a consultation on the review of the Federal/Provincial/Territorial Action Plan for Increasing Francophone Immigration Outside of Quebec to assess its achievements and shortcomings and the challenges it faces.

In addition, in 2023–2024, IRCC updated the Dashboard on Francophone Immigration to Canada (Outside Quebec), a reliable data source on which community partners and provincial and territorial governments can base decisions and actions.

3.2 Targeted expansion of promotion and recruitment support

In October 2023, IRCC began its promotional activities to support the recruitment of French-speaking immigrants. The Department began by hiring additional resources at its Algiers, Beirut, Mexico City, Paris, Rabat, Yaoundé and Ottawa offices dedicated entirely to promoting Francophone immigration outside Quebec.

IRCC also developed a promotional approach and a number of tools to support the promotional activities of its offices abroad, as well as tools to better measure those efforts. These included a naming guide on activity definitions aimed at harmonizing the language used by all departmental branches, a specific post-event survey for Francophone promotional activities to measure the satisfaction rate of participants, and engagement plan templates to ensure a consistent approach across offices with resources dedicated to Francophone promotion.

In 2023–2024, IRCC continued its promotional efforts, organizing and participating in 210 promotional activities focusing on three areas: promoting economic immigration, including the promotion of FMCs, Welcoming Francophone Communities and settlement services; supporting recruitment missions organized by the provincial and territorial governments and employers; and developing partnerships with local institutions.

3.3 Corridor for the Selection and Retention of French Teachers in Canada

Action Plan 2023–2028 contains a series of initiatives to boost foreign recruitment and retention of French and French-speaking elementary and secondary teachers. In 2023–2024, IRCC identified potential barriers to attracting and selecting French and French-speaking teachers from abroad, and to settling and retaining them

in Canada outside Quebec. In addition, IRCC consulted with provincial and territorial governments, and held discussions with PCH and Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC) to ensure a concerted approach. These analyses and consultations will guide IRCC in the preliminary identification of the measures that will make up the **Corridor for the Selection and Retention of French Teachers in Canada** (the Corridor).

A dedicated team was established to do targeted promotion of Francophone immigration to Canada outside Quebec. One of its priorities is to promote existing IRCC tools and programs that facilitate the hiring and retention of French and French-speaking teachers in French-language school boards and French immersion programs outside Quebec. Collaborative relationships were developed with a number of key partners, such as the provincial and territorial governments, including the provincial and territorial ministries/departments of education, teacher recruitment organizations, French-language school boards and French immersion programs.

IRCC also organized the Early Childhood and Teaching Job Fair: Destination Canada Education, which took place on March 1 and 2, 2024. The event was for French-speaking and bilingual candidates in search of employment opportunities in education in Canada outside Quebec. The purpose of the fair was to connect employers in primary and secondary education, French second-language instruction and other areas with skilled French-speaking and bilingual candidates. Candidates attended virtual conferences and put questions to the officers in real time. In this way, candidates were able to learn more about IRCC's permanent residency programs, such as Express Entry and Francophone Mobility, two programs aimed at French-speaking immigrants. Thanks to the event, a number of candidates connected with prospective employers.

Through the Corridor's initiatives, a number of early childhood educators and French teachers at the primary and secondary levels were selected by Express Entry. In 2023 and 2024, a total of 487 and 477 teachers, respectively, were admitted through the economic programs targeting FMCs.

3.4 Strengthened Integration Pathway

The **Strengthened Integration Pathway**, an IRCC initiative to enhance the existing Francophone Integration Pathway, is intended to facilitate the settlement and integration of newcomers and bolster the reception capacity of FMCs. In 2023–2024, IRCC launched several initiatives under the Strengthened Integration Pathway, including capacity-building in the Francophone settlement and resettlement sector, development of the community strategy to better meet the needs of French-speaking immigrant women, and renewal and expansion of the Welcoming Francophone Communities.

Building the capacity of the Francophone immigrant settlement and Francophone refugee resettlement sector has been a key part of the Francophone Integration Pathway since its inception. In 2023–2024, IRCC focused more specifically on creating forums where stakeholders in the sector and service providers could exchange

best practices, and on finding ways to expand the capacity of Francophone service providers and the services provided through Francophone communities to welcome newcomers.

In 2023–2024, IRCC also worked to develop a national community-based strategy to better meet the needs of French-speaking immigrant women settling in FMCs. In 2023, the Alliance des femmes de la francophonie canadienne carried out an initial consultation in the form of an online survey of 343 French-speaking immigrant women. A review of the Canadian scientific literature and a gathering of business intelligence on the international scene were carried out to take stock of the key issues, potential solutions, best practices and international trends in terms of the integration of immigrant women in minority settings. On the basis of these findings, consultations in the form of focus groups with women were held in 2024. These consultations validated the assumptions and confirmed the objectives for meeting the specific needs of immigrant women in each province and territory outside Quebec. The key partners in the area of Francophone settlement in each province and territory were also consulted in the development of this community strategy.

With a view to renewing and expanding the Welcoming Francophone Communities initiative, IRCC conducted a series of engagements during the 2023–2024 fiscal year, which included consultations and virtual conversations with various stakeholders and recipients. On the basis of the various findings and engagements, the Department developed an approach guiding the terms and conditions for renewal and expansion. This approach made it possible to renew the agreements of the 14 existing Welcoming Francophone Communities to 2028 and to add 10 new communities across the country to the network.

3.5 Centre for Innovation in Francophone Immigration

On January 16, 2024, IRCC's **Centre for Innovation in Francophone Immigration** (the Centre) launched the Francophone Immigration Support Program, a grant-and-contribution program giving Francophone communities an opportunity to participate in promotional activities and activities to identify, support and recruit French-speaking and bilingual candidates, and to address the labour needs of Canada's various economic sectors.

In addition to implementing the Francophone Immigration Support Program, the Centre employs promotional officers, whose mandate is to facilitate engagement with various stakeholders, raise employer awareness of the benefits of Francophone immigration in addressing labour needs, and supporting partners to ensure a better understanding of existing immigration programs.

In 2023–2024, the Centre delivered 20 information sessions to more than 350 Francophone stakeholders to raise awareness about new funding opportunities. In addition, new governance, new tools and a process for receiving project concepts were introduced to ensure effective program delivery.

3.6 Francophone lens integrated into economic immigration programs

In support of the new Policy and the commitments in the mandate letter of the Minister of Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship, an analysis of the economic immigration programs was launched at the beginning of 2024–2025. That analysis seeks to identify opportunities to boost the selection and retention of French-speaking and bilingual immigrants through various selection mechanisms and various means of easing the transition from temporary to permanent residency.

The resulting recommendations concerning means and mechanisms of increasing the rate of permanent Francophone immigration outside Quebec—including a new economic program dedicated to Francophone immigration—were presented in early 2025 following consultation with FMCs and other relevant stakeholders.

3.7 Helping newcomers learn English and/or French

As part of the direct assessment and adapted language training services initiative, IRCC's Settlement Program funds flexible, accessible language training services in both official languages. These initiatives address the specific social and professional integration needs of newcomers, thereby supporting linguistic duality and FMC development. Under the Program, seven existing direct projects have been funded through to March 2025, and new projects will be funded beginning April 1, 2025. In 2023–2024, 996 clients benefited from language training services funded by Action Plan 2023–2028.

IRCC also allocated funds to various initiatives to improve the attraction, reception and integration of newcomers to FMCs. National projects received funding to build capacity in the French language-training sector by providing professional development, resources and tools facilitating access to learning technologies. Providers of direct language assessment and training services include Collège Boréal in Ontario and the Société du centre scolaire communautaire de Calgary in Alberta.

3.8 Use of French in international diplomacy

Under the modernized OLA, the Government of Canada is committed to advancing the use of English and French in the conduct of Canada's external affairs and to promoting French as part of Canada's diplomatic relations. The image that Global Affairs Canada projects internationally influences the status of the official languages at home and on the international stage, while the language used by its representatives abroad affects such things as the perceptions of newcomers, international trade, and diplomatic and cultural relations.

In 2023–2024, Global Affairs Canada and its various Canadian missions abroad continued to actively advance the equality of status and use of English and French internationally through cultural diplomacy, organizing various events and initiatives, such as film screenings, Francophone festivals and collaborations with cultural institutions. A number of Canadian missions work in partnership with local organizations and Francophone organizations to strengthen the presence and visibility of French in diplomatic, commercial and educational contexts, including through organizational diplomacy networks and linguistic tools. Lastly, best practices, such as language exchanges, educational resources and the promotion of official languages in communications, demonstrate Canada's commitment to supporting the Francophonie within OLMCs and around the world.

Section 4: Advancing opportunities to learn the two official languages

Education is a cornerstone of the development and vitality of OLMCs and bilingualism. Strong educational institutions are essential to ensuring learning opportunities for members of OLMCs in their first official language and to providing all Canadians with opportunities to learn and appreciate their second official language.

In recent years, the Government of Canada has taken concrete steps to achieve its education goals. For example, the modernized OLA commits the Government to advancing formal, non-formal and informal opportunities for members of English and French linguistic minority communities to pursue quality learning in their own language throughout their lives.

Action Plan 2018–2023 provided for significant federal investments in education, resulting in notable advances in this area. Those ongoing investments in education are complemented by a variety of new measures in Action Plan 2023–2028 that support minority-language education, French second-language learning and post-secondary education in the minority language, as well as enhanced federal investments in teacher recruitment and retention, and educational and community infrastructure. PCH will build on these advances as it continues supporting quality education and the academic success of learners in every province and territory.

4.1 Supporting the provincial and territorial governments

Under the modernized OLA, the Minister responsible for Official Languages is tasked with encouraging and assisting provincial and territorial governments to support the development of English and French linguistic minority communities. The major work being done by the Government of Canada has been made possible by increased collaboration with the provincial and territorial governments, which play a key role in implementing initiatives and advancing key files in the area of official languages. In 2023–2024, the Ministers of Official Languages of the day continued to play a leading role vis-à-vis their provincial and territorial counterparts, particularly in education.

Protocol for Agreements for Minority-Language Education and Second-Language Instruction

To further its educational objectives, the Government of Canada has been working with the provincial and territorial governments for over 50 years, providing financial support for minority-language education and second-language learning, with each level of government respecting the other's areas of jurisdiction.

The **Protocol for Agreements for Minority-Language Education and Second-Language Instruction** (the Protocol) is a multilateral collaborative mechanism whereby the Government of Canada contributes to the costs incurred by the provinces and territories for minority-language education and second-official-language instruction.

The Protocol provides for \$235.5 million per year in ongoing core funding starting in 2024–2025, and nearly \$500 million over four years in additional funding under Action Plan 2023–2028, for a total of \$1.4 billion over four years to strengthen the minority-language education continuum and support second-language learning.

4.2 Developing knowledge of the first official language

More than ever, the Government of Canada is supporting the provincial and territorial governments' minority-language education offerings and working with the community sector to support strategic projects and initiatives for OLMCs spanning the entire education continuum.

Supporting minority-language education

The purpose of intergovernmental cooperation on minority-language education is to help provincial and territorial governments provide members of OLMCs with the opportunity to be educated in their official language and to experience cultural enrichment.

In 2023–2024, an intergovernmental agreement on minority-language education and second-official-language instruction was in effect with the provincial and territorial governments. In addition to the initiatives in the provincial and territorial action plans, complementary projects to address one-time and emerging needs were also funded.

Supporting post-secondary education in the minority language

Budget 2021 announced \$121 million over three years for post-secondary education in the minority language. In 2023–2024, this funding continued to support post-secondary education initiatives intended to stabilize or strengthen the capacity of institutions to deliver quality post-secondary education programs in OLMCs, maintain and expand the number of programs available, and foster collaboration among institutions.

For example, with funding of \$3,007,697, the Government of the Northwest Territories implemented its Consolidating Operations and Enhancing Institutional Capacity of the Collège nordique francophone project. This two-year project (2023–2024 to 2024–2025) will enable Collège nordique francophone to consolidate its operations and improve its institutional capacity by expanding services and programs offered in French and

implementing a community-based program-delivery model and a community strategy for training and skills development in the Northwest Territories.

Recruiting teachers for minority-language schools

In response to shortages, greater efforts are being made to recruit teachers for minority-language schools. In 2023–2024, 22 projects to recruit and retain teachers in minority-language schools were carried out; of these, 19 were provincial/territorial government projects, and 3 were projects by national organizations.

For example, between 2022 and 2024, the University of Ottawa implemented an awareness, recruitment and teacher training strategy to recruit more Canadian university students and reduce the barriers facing candidates for the teacher education program. Thanks to the initiative, the province of Ontario reported an increase in enrolment in the University of Ottawa's teacher education program.

Supporting community educational infrastructure

There is a great need for educational and community infrastructure in OLMCs. In response, in 2023–2024 the **Supporting Community Educational Infrastructure** initiative helped to implement 43 new community infrastructure projects in 32 communities.

As a result of the initiative, there was an increase in the number of community infrastructure projects for OLMCs and the number of communities benefiting from such projects. Over time, thanks to these investments, community members will see greater access to a variety of activities and services in their language, and an increased ability to live in their language and participate in Canadian society. The initiative will support the vitality, resilience and long-term development of OLMCs.

Supporting early learning and child care development

ESDC's **Support Early Learning and Child Care Development** initiative aims to continue the development of initial, ongoing and specialized training programs in the early childhood sector.

As part of this initiative, the Association des collèges et universités de la francophonie canadienne funded the implementation of 43 training initiatives in collaboration with four partner organizations, for a total of nearly \$10.5 million over three years. The projects that were selected had the following objectives: developing training sessions tailored to the needs of Francophone communities; and ensuring, through initial and ongoing training, the recruitment and retention of early childhood educators in Francophone communities. One of the Association's achievements in 2023–2024 was the conclusion of its national "Choisir la petite enfance"

[Choosing early childhood] campaign, which sought to promote the training of early childhood educators in Francophone minority communities.

Supporting the creation and dissemination of scientific information in French

To implement the Government of Canada's commitments under Part VII of the modernized OLA, federal institutions have a duty to take positive measures, which may include supporting the creation and dissemination of information in French that contributes to the advancement of scientific knowledge in any discipline.

2023–2024 served to lay the foundations for the **Supporting the Creation and Dissemination of Scientific Information in French** initiative. This included the creation of a new sub-component dedicated to the popularization of scientific knowledge in French; increased support for the Service d'aide à la recherche en français of the Association francophone pour le savoir (Acfas); direct support for research in French and for Francophone researchers in all disciplines, in partnership with the research granting councils; and the establishment of an external advisory panel.

In 2023, PCH provided \$118,000 to support the creation of Acfas's Service d'aide à la recherche en français. This initiative, the only of its kind in Canada, helps researchers in minority settings prepare applications for research grants and graduate fellowships.

In addition, 2023–2024 witnessed efforts to create an external advisory panel of experts on French-language research, which was announced on October 22, 2024. The panel is made up of experts and specialists representing different research fields and various regions of Canada. Its terms of reference involve examining the current dynamics of creating and disseminating French-language scientific knowledge in Canada and proposing courses of action that take into account the dynamics of Francophone minority communities and Quebec. The panel will provide advice and recommendations to the Minister responsible for Official Languages, informing the development of a federal strategy for the long-term viability of the French-language scientific research ecosystem in Canada.

4.3 Supporting learning and appreciation of the second official language

The Government of Canada continues supporting the provincial and territorial governments' minoritylanguage education offerings and working with the community sector to support projects and initiatives aimed at fostering appreciation of the two official languages and bringing the two linguistic communities closer together.

Supporting French second-language learning

The purpose of intergovernmental cooperation in the area of second-language learning is to help provincial and territorial governments provide the residents of each province/territory with the opportunity to learn English or French as a second language and with opportunities for cultural enrichment through knowledge of the cultures of the other official-language community.

In 2023–2024, an intergovernmental agreement on minority-language education and second-official-language instruction was in effect with each provincial/territorial government. In addition to the initiatives in the provincial and territorial action plans, complementary projects to address one-time and emerging needs were also funded.

Recruiting teachers for immersion and French second-language programs

Due to persistent challenges, increased efforts are being made to recruit teachers for French immersion and French second-language programs. In 2023–2024, 14 projects to recruit and retain teachers for French immersion and French second-language programs were carried out; of these, 13 were provincial/territorial government projects, and 1 was a project by a national organization.

Thanks to funding of \$157,000 for 2023–2024, the Canadian Association of Immersion Professionals implemented its Retention – Support Program for Young Teachers project. The Association offers a teacher sponsorship and coaching program specifically geared to new French immersion teachers — especially young teachers who have left their community to go teach in rural areas —in order to help them integrate. In 2023–2024, the initiative saw 21 coaches from 8 provinces offer advice to 55 teachers.

Young Canada Works in Both Official Languages

The Young Canada Works program is part of the Government of Canada's modernized Youth Employment and Skills Strategy, which aims to help young people, particularly those facing employability challenges, develop their skills along a continuum to prepare them for the labour market. Collectively, the participating programs

address the diverse geographic and demographic needs of young people, while helping them enter emerging Canada-wide growth sectors. This one-of-a-kind horizontal strategy is being implemented by 12 federal departments and agencies, including PCH.

Since 1996, Young Canada Works in Both Official Languages—one of the program components implemented by PCH—has been helping young Canadians aged 15 to 30 to gain work experience and develop their professional skills, while strengthening their official language abilities. In 2023–2024, 781 young people took part in the program, gaining work experience in their first or second official language in an OLMC—thereby contributing to the sustainable development of OLMCs—as well as an awareness of the benefits of Canada's linguistic duality.

Mauril

In 2023–2024, there were continued efforts to promote **Mauril**, a mobile app for learning and maintaining English and French second-language skills. The free-of-charge app, which features Canadian content, has been downloaded more than 400,000 times in every province and territory in Canada. Based on the user profiles, 64% of users are learning French, while 36% are learning English. PCH is supporting CBC/Radio-Canada in its efforts to extend the reach of Mauril, developing new features for the platform while promoting its use at both the community and post-secondary levels.

Section 5: Strengthening our communities

The cultural, linguistic and social diversity of our communities is a tremendous asset and a wellspring of collective energy. The multiplicity of perspectives, experiences and traditions inspire us to grow together and are a source of increased creativity and resilience with which to tackle challenges. In the modernized OLA, the Government of Canada has recognized the uniqueness and diversity of English and French linguistic minority communities, as well as their respective historical and cultural contributions to Canadian society.

With the funding under Action Plan 2018–2023, we made great strides in strengthening our communities and improving access to services. These investments—which have been fully renewed in Action Plan 2023–2028 and supplemented with new funds—will enable us to continue our work in key sectors benefiting communities, such as arts and culture, employment, health and justice.

As part of Action Plan 2023–2028, over 300 community organizations across the country have seen a 12.5% increase in core funding. Starting in 2023–2024, this additional funding enabled national organizations, including the Fédération des communautés francophones et acadienne, to meet operating costs that have risen with inflation.

Once again this year, many federal institutions contributed directly to community vitality and development through their programs and initiatives using a "by and for" delivery model. Under this approach, communities are involved at every stage of decision-making and project delivery, ensuring that their priorities and interests are fully considered.

5.1 Supporting the provincial and territorial governments

Under the modernized OLA, the Minister responsible for Official Languages is tasked with encouraging and assisting provincial and territorial governments to support the development of Quebec's English-speaking communities and French linguistic minority communities. The important work being done by the Government of Canada depends on enhanced collaboration with these governments, who play an essential role in implementing initiatives and managing files in the area of official languages. In 2023–2024, the Ministers of Official Languages of the day continued to exercise decisive influence in their dealings with their provincial and territorial counterparts.

Ministers' Council on the Canadian Francophonie

Access to services and education in the minority official language is essential to the vitality and development of OLMCs. In Action Plan 2023–2028, the Government announced that it wanted to go even further in expanding access to services in these communities.

Providing access to services and sectors essential to enhancing the vitality of OLMCs, such as education, requires close collaboration with the provinces and territories. The Government has mechanisms in place, including the **Ministers' Council on the Canadian Francophonie** (the Council), to foster dialogue and work towards common goals. The mandate of the Council is to contribute to a dialogue among provincial and territorial governments conducive to the development of initiatives that strengthen the Canadian Francophonie and improve the status of French, including the implementation of active offer and expanded government services in French. Action Plan 2023–2028 also announced additional support for the promotion of the Canadian Francophonie, in particular to support the work of the Council.

The Council's annual meeting took place on July 6 and 7, 2023, in Vancouver, British Columbia. Co-chaired by then Minister of Official Languages and Minister responsible for the Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency, the Honourable Ginette Petitpas Taylor, the meeting included discussions on the recently announced Action Plan 2023–2028 and on the modernized OLA.

Supporting services in the minority language and promoting the Canadian Francophonie

The purpose of intergovernmental cooperation on minority-language services is to help provincial and territorial governments offer provincial, territorial and municipal services in the language of the OLMC to foster its development. The Government of Canada has given the provincial governments access to \$142.4 million over five years, from 2023 to 2028, through bilateral agreements on minority-language services. This includes a funding increase for the agreements with the provinces of up to \$98.2 million over five years under Action Plan 2023–2028. The Government of Canada will also devote up to \$85.5 million over five years to the territorial governments for French-language services.

In 2023–2024, 12 provincial/territorial governments had an active intergovernmental agreement on minority-language services. The bilateral agreement with Nunavut expired March 31, 2024, and the bilateral agreement with Yukon is set to expire March 31, 2025. PCH continued working with all the provinces and territories to support the delivery of services in the minority language.

5.2 Supporting the development of arts and culture

Arts and culture play a key role in maintaining and enhancing the vitality of the official languages by providing OLMCs with spaces in which to express and transmit their identity. By fostering artistic creation and showcasing culture, these sectors reinforce the sense of belonging, ensure the visibility of these communities

and contribute to the continuity of their language and heritage. In 2023–2024, federal institutions continued to take measures in these sectors, which are essential to the official languages and to communities.

Collaboration Agreement for the Development of Arts and Culture in the Francophone Minority Communities of Canada

The modernized OLA recognizes the situation of French in Canada and contains a commitment to protecting and promoting that language. The Minister responsible for Official Languages continues to coordinate initiatives in support of the development and advancement of Francophone culture in Canada, which is a key sector for the development and vitality of OLMCs.

In 2023–2024, PCH continued to coordinate the **Collaboration Agreement for the Development of Arts and Culture in the Francophone Minority Communities of Canada** (the Agreement). The Department also continued working with the signatory federal institutions—the National Arts Centre, the Canada Council for the Arts, the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation, the National Film Board of Canada and Telefilm Canada—and the organizations represented by the Fédération culturelle canadienne-française to renew this mechanism so crucial to Canada's French-language arts and culture sector.

These renewal efforts were informed by a 2022 external evaluation of the Agreement's mechanisms, with PCH encouraging partners to focus on dialogue, collaboration and the identification of synergies to ensure new positive measures for the benefit of OLMCs. Among other things, the proposed new draft of the Agreement featured changes and stronger wording that reflected the modernization of the OLA and provided for the taking of positive measures "by and for communities." The 2024–2028 Agreement was signed on October 31, 2024, in Ottawa at a ceremony attended by the signatories and stakeholders.

PassepART

In 2023–2024, PCH's enhanced PassepART program supported the development of ImmersART, a micro-grant program that funds activities in immersion schools, in partnership with Francophone artistic and cultural organizations in their region. The funding supported major modifications to the existing database to create a section dedicated to managing applications for activities in French immersion schools.

Activities carried out in 2023–2024 included the development of an engagement and consultation strategy, consultation sessions with immersion education partners, the development of a list of immersion schools, the implementation of a program delivery platform for immersion schools, the development of communication and promotion plans, and the development of support tools.

Canada Music Fund

PCH's **Canada Music Fund** received additional funding to develop the skills and capacities of Francophone music entrepreneurs in OLMCs in order to build audiences for artists and expand OLMC access to musical performances in their language.

Thanks to the Soutien aux entrepreneurs et organismes de la francophonie canadienne program, OLMCs now have access to a wider range of local services in their first official language. The program provides the necessary tools for Francophone businesses outside Quebec to offer professional training, mentoring and activities to support the development of artists.

5.3 Supporting employment and economic development

Across Canada, including in OLMCs, various sectors have been struggling with labour shortages. Many of the unfilled positions require a certain level of bilingualism. The Government of Canada is implementing initiatives to address the urgent need for training and skilled bilingual workers in OLMCs, and to foster the employability of OLMC members in various sectors that are a priority for the communities, thereby contributing to community economic development.

Enhancement of the Enabling Fund for Official Language Minority Communities

Additional funding has been allocated to ESDC's **Enabling Fund for Official Language Minority Communities** to help organizations improve their stability and planning capacity so they can continue enhancing the vitality of OLMCs and addressing the growing economic-development and employability needs of those communities.

In 2023–2024, the program's recipient organizations established and maintained over 2,000 active partnerships with the public, private and not-profit sectors. The funding enabled recipients to implement projects, fill gaps in service and take concerted action to strengthen OLMCs' human-resources and economic-development capacity. In addition, over 107,000 individuals, businesses and organizations from OLMCs benefited from the services delivered by the funding recipients.

Investing in employment assistance services for official language minority communities

Further investments were made in ESDC's **Enabling Fund for Official Language Minority Communities** to expand the Fund and invest more in employment assistance services in OLMCs. This funding will assist local organizations in Francophone minority communities and the ESCQs in providing employment assistance services, such as employment counselling; development of résumé-writing, interview and job-search skills; and job placement.

In 2023–2024, the program worked in collaboration with other departments, including PCH and IRCC, to learn about the employability needs and challenges of OLMCs. In designing and implementing the new Employment Assistance Services stream, program representatives held a series of bilateral discussions with provincial and territorial governments to gain an understanding of the current service delivery landscape in OLMCs, to ensure that their approach was aligned and complementary, and to ensure that the new projects fit well into the broader employment and training ecosystem in the provinces and territories. ESDC also conducted extensive stakeholder consultations to further its understanding of the gaps and needs in terms of employment assistance services in OLMCs to help guide the design and implementation of the stream. Projects under this stream began in winter 2025.

Social Partnership Initiative for Official Language Minority Communities

ESDC's **Social Partnership Initiative for Official Language Minority Communities** received investments with which to provide community organizations with funding to boost their capacity to deliver services; better meet the needs of individuals, families and OLMCs; and work in partnership to address common social issues.

The year 2023–2024 served to lay the foundations of the Initiative. Two organizations—one serving Quebec's English-speaking communities and one serving Francophone minority communities—were selected to administer the funding for community organizations serving OLMCs. Applications were evaluated, and the successful applicants will sign agreements and launch their projects in 2024–2025.

Fund for the English-Speaking Communities of Quebec

PCH's **Fund for the English-Speaking Communities of Quebec**, which has had its funding renewed, supports delivery of a wide variety of projects in sectors key to the vitality of the ESCQs in different regions of Quebec. Among the community priorities addressed by the funded projects were cultural heritage, economic opportunities, social isolation of vulnerable groups, arts and leisure activities, and community engagement.

In 2023–2024, the association Youth for Youth Québec launched Leaders of Tomorrow: Supporting Youth Personal Development and Sense of Belonging in the English-Speaking Communities, a three-phase project that will span two fiscal years, running from April 1, 2023, to March 31, 2025. The first phase will help 120 young English speakers from the ESCQs, all from regions of Quebec, integrate into their new urban environment as they pursue their education in Montréal. The second phase will involve establishing a volunteer program to coach ESCQ youth and get them involved in volunteer activities, and creating a database of ESCQ volunteers available to the community. The third phase will involve designing and organizing a series of workshops for 100 ESCQ youth on how to engage in volunteering as a member of the board of a non-profit.

In addition, the Provincial Employment Roundtable carried out a project entitled Supporting the Economic and Community Integration of Mature English Speakers in Quebec. As part of this project, the multilateral initiative collected testimonials from workers aged 45 to 60 from the ESCQs. Focusing on 10 to 12 mature English speakers, the Provincial Employment Roundtable gathered information on their career paths and employment experiences, noted the employment services and programs they had accessed, and documented the relationship between language and work in Quebec. The testimonials were used in a virtual and in-person exhibit, as well as a social networking campaign to highlight the current needs of mature English speakers and to promote programs that they might find useful. These findings also led to a needs assessment report on gaps in existing services and programs for mature English-speaking workers.

Official Languages Health Program

Health Canada's **Official Languages Health Program** received increased support to boost the core funding of organizations working with OLMCs. This enabled them to carry out activities essential to expanding community access to health services in the official language of their choice.

Thanks to the indexation of funding, the Association canadienne-française de l'Alberta was able to do a study on the needs of Alberta's Francophone communities in terms of French-language primary health care, home care and palliative care. The study raised the level of knowledge among health partners and yielded evidence specific to Alberta's Francophone population in all its diversity. In addition, Société Santé en français provided ongoing French-language mental health support for Francophone residents of Alberta in partnership with Tel-Aide Outaouais to address the gaps identified in this sector. A French-language helpline is directly available to patients.

5.4 Improving access to justice in both official languages

For there to be genuine access to justice, legal services must be available in the official language of choice. The Government of Canada continues to improve and expand access to legal services for Canadians, including

members of OLMCs, by funding initiatives and organizations that give those communities the necessary tools and assistance to navigate the justice system.

Access to Justice in Both Official Languages Support Fund

The enhancement of Department of Justice Canada's **Access to Justice in Both Official Languages Support Fund** enables associations working with OLMCs in the area of access to justice to provide resources facilitating access to justice in both official languages.

In 2023–2024, the funding enabled the delivery of 40 projects supporting OLMCs and the justice system, a number of which were carried out with long-standing partners. For example, the initiative increased funding for 12 recipients, provided terminology training for judges, funded the development of tools and resources in jurilinguistic centres, supported the translation of decisions of national interest from provincial and territorial courts of appeal and superior courts, and funded Justice Hub centres for litigants from OLMCs.

Access to Justice in Both Official Languages Initiative

Department of Justice Canada's **Access to Justice in Both Official Languages Support Fund** has also received funding for new positive measures to strengthen the bilingual capacity of the justice system and boost the supply of information and legal-support services for litigants from OLMCs, with an emphasis on more vulnerable groups within that population. Two priority focuses have been identified for the new positive measures: support for OLMCs and support for the justice system. The new positive measures also target evidence-gathering, and equity, diversity and inclusion.

Organizations across the country have obtained funding for new projects. In Quebec, International Rwanda Youth for Development hosted plain-language information workshops on labour law, family law, immigration law, municipal law and criminal law for a racialized English-speaking community, and Montreal City Mission obtained funding to provide socio-legal support services for English-speaking migrants in Quebec. In the West, the Fund supported a new training course for British Columbia Crown prosecutors and other stakeholders in the province's criminal justice system attended by 24 people. On the Prairies and in the North, Franco-Justice, a non-profit organization operating in Winnipeg, delivered 27 French-language legal information workshops—attended by some 120 members of the local Francophone community—as part of its Legal Integration for Manitoba's Diverse Francophonie project.

Conclusion

The year 2023–2024 was a pivotal year for official languages. The modernization of the OLA marked a critical transition to a linguistic framework better tailored to Canada's contemporary realities. The strengthened governance and accountability provisions for federal institutions will support more rigorous implementation of the OLA and the obligations thereunder, ultimately enhancing the vitality of OLMCs and the official languages.

The year 2023–2024 also marked the first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028, the five-year government-wide strategy, a year that involved laying the foundations for the new measures in that strategy. The success of Action Plan 2023–2028 will hinge on a "by and for communities" approach and key collaborations with federal institutions and provincial and territorial governments, contributing to the advancement of the two official languages and the vitality of communities. Future annual reports will provide more information on the results achieved.

These concrete actions in support of the official languages and OLMCs are the manifestation of the vision and agenda laid out by the Government of Canada in *English and French: Towards a Substantive Equality of Official Languages in Canada*. In 2023–2024, the Government of Canada reaffirmed its commitment to OLMCs and the official languages through these important measures. Moving forward, these ambitious measures will support the vitality and development of OLMCs and reinforce the place of the official languages in Canadian society.

Appendix 1 – 2023–2024 Summary of Government Investments in Official Languages

Table 1: 2023–2024 Summary of Government Investments in Official Languages

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Canadian Heritage – Historical Base			
Minority-Language Education	785.9 ⁱⁱ	157,178,357	158,671,379
Support for Second-Language Learning ⁱⁱⁱ	447.5 ^{iv}	89,507,542	86,025,252
Support for Community Spaces – Infrastructure ^v	74 ^{vi}	14,804,900	16,890,326
Cooperation with the Community Sector (minority organizations)	235.2	47,047,552	47,105,318
Summer Language Bursary Programs (Explore, Destination Clic)	105.9	21,176,534	23,426,116
Intergovernmental Cooperation on Minority-Language Services ^{vii}	137.1	27,421,075	25,835,619
Official Language Monitors (Odyssey)	53.1	10,614,398	14,058,702
Strategic Fund	35.0	7,000,000	6,641,367
Teacher Recruitment Strategy for Minority- Language Schoolsviii	33.3	6,660,430	8,083,025
Teacher Recruitment Strategy for Immersion and French Second-Language ^{ix}	33.3	6,660,430	4,773,696
Community Cultural Action Fund	26.5	5,297,915	5,357,459

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Young Canada Works in Both Official Languages	18.1	3,617,168	3,936,918
Promotion of Linguistic Duality	18.5	3,700,000	3,749,548
Mobile Application for Learning and Retaining English and French as Second Languages	15.5	3,100,000	3,100,000
Strengthening Community Media and Radio	14.7	2,949,661	2,794,169
Bursaries for Post-Secondary Education in French as a Second Language	15.7	3,141,096	2,991,096
Exchanges Canada ^x	11.3	2,250,000	2,131,259
Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector (minority-language organizations)	8.8	1,750,000	1,767,450
Music Showcases for Artists from OLMCs	5.8	1,150,000	1,150,000
Fund for the English-Speaking Communities of Quebec	6.8	1,355,975	1,355,876
Civic Community School Support Fund	7.9	1,573,909	1,573,909
Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector (second-language organizations)	4.9	975,000	975,000
National Translation Program for Book Publishing ^{xi}	4.0	800,000	685,504
Support for Interpretation and Translation	2.5	500,000	497,500

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Promotion of Bilingual Services in the Voluntary Sector	1.1	212,571	222,571
School Community Infrastructure Support (2027–2028) ^{xii}	52.0	8,000,000	8,091,718
Canadian Heritage – New Funds in Action Pla	an 2023–2028		
Supporting Minority-Language Educationxiii	148.2	36,809,995	27,709,996
Supporting Post-Secondary Education in the Minority Language (as of 2024–2025)	120.9	-	-
Supporting Post-Secondary Education in the Minority Language (2023–2024)xiv	30.4	30,426,867	37,028,516
Supporting French Second-Language Learning (as of 2024–2025) ^{xv}	242.8	-	-
Supporting French Second-Language Learning (2023–2024)	65.8	65,801,897	65,626,477
Supporting Community Educational Infrastructure ^{xvi}	50.3	7,583,476	8,656,362
Supporting teacher recruitment and retention (in Minority French-Language Schools and in French Immersion and French Second-Language Programs) (as of 2024–2025)	16.3	-	-
Supporting teacher recruitment and retention (in Minority French-Language Schools and in French Immersion and	3.8	3,800,000	3,790,838

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
French Second-Language Programs) (2023–2024)			
Supporting Services in the Minority Language and Promoting the Canadian Francophonie	100.8	11,485,673	8,750,848
Enhancing Core Funding for Community Organizations and Creating a Strategic Financial Envelope	62.5	5,191,893	5,914,008
Supporting the Creation and Dissemination of Scientific Information in French	8.5	273,859	273,859
Changing the Media Internships Initiative ^{xvii}	5.0	-	-
Implementing Youth Strategies to Bring the Linguistic Communities Closer Together – New Youth Initiatives Fund	5.0	-	-
Enhancing the PassepART Program	5.0	259,784	239,467
Developing Quebec's English-Speaking Communities Through the Arts, Heritage and Citizen Participation	2.5	-	-
Canada Music Fund: Supporting Francophone Artists and Music Entrepreneurs in Official Language Minority Communities	5.0	1,000,000	1,000,000
Partnerships to Strengthen Part VII of the Official Languages Act	20.6	2,414,695	2,414,695

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Strengthening the Court Challenges Program	24.5	2,899,811	2,899,811
Young Canada Works in Both Official Languages (2024–2025)	3.6	1,774,987	1,774,987
Employment and Social Development Canad	a – Historical Base		
Enabling Fund for OLMCs (employability and economic development)xviii	74.5	14,900,000	14,894,386
OLMC Literacy and Essential Skills Initiative ^{xix}	7.5	1,500,000	13,255,119
Social Partnership Initiative in OLMCs	4.0	800,000	800,000
Support for Early Childhood Development	10.0	2,000,000	1,747,643
Employment and Social Development Canada – New Funds in Action Plan 2023–2028			
Enabling Fund for Official Language Minority Communities ^{xx}	20.5	1,515,931	1,440,187
Creating a Network of Early Childhood Stakeholders and Rolling Out the Initiatives in Francophone Minority Communities	50.0	699,373	699,373
Renewed Funding for the Development of Early Learning and Child Care – Training and Capacity-Building for Early Childhood Educators	14.2	365,837	365,837
Social Partnership Initiative for Official Language Minority Communities ^{xxi}	5.4	452,000	252,000

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Investing in Employment Assistance Services for Official Language Minority Communities ^{xxii}	206.6	10,554,970	4,557,842
Health Canada – Historical Base			
Official Languages Health Program ^{xxiii}	192.2	38,432,158	38,926,869
Health Canada – New Funds in Action Plan 2	023–2028		
Increased Support for the Training of Bilingual Health Personnel to Better Serve Official Language Minority Communities	6.5	-	-
Indexing Official Languages Health Program Funding	8.0	1,599,999	1,599,998
Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Cana	da – Historical Base ^{xxiv}		
Francophone Integration Pathwayxxv	46.6	9,322,313	8,449,279
Immigration Initiative to OLMCs	29.4	5,881,638	5,881,638
Collaboration and Accountability ^{xxvi}	8.3	827,485	789,854
Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada – New Funds in Action Plan 2023–2028***********************************			
Francophone Immigration Policy: Towards a New, Integrated Approach ^{xxviii}	13.4	2,739,616	1,899,127
Targeted Expansion of Promotion and Recruitment Support ^{xxix}	18.5	3,049,287	1,263,982

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Corridor for the Selection and Retention of French Teachers in Canadaxxx	16.3	1,479,915	112,264
A Strengthened Integration Pathway ^{xxxi}	50.0	2,920,408	1,042,575
A Centre for Innovation in Francophone Immigration, Including a New Grant-and- Contribution Program in Support of Francophone Immigration****	25.0	1,140,762	137,652
Francophone Lens Integrated into Economic Immigration Programs — Improved Selection Mechanisms for Francophone and Bilingual Immigrants**xxiii	3.5	704,307	434,044
English and/or French Language Training for Newcomers xxxiv	10.5	1,454,588	1,198,316
Department of Justice Canada – Historical Ba	ase		
Networks, Training and Access-to-Justice Servicesxxxv	55.2	11,084,421	10,928,049
Contraventions Act Fund*xxvi	49.6	9,947,293	6,510,825
Department of Justice Canada – New Funds	in Action Plan 2023–2028		
Boosting Core Funding Under the Access to Justice in Both Official Languages Support Fund ^{xxxvii}	4.5	500,000	162,871
New Positive Measures Under the Access to Justice in Both Official Languages Initiative ^{xxxviii}	11.3	700,000	998,318

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Innovation, Science and Economic Developm	nent Canada – Historical Bas	e	
Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada ^{xxxix}	1.6	320,000	225,683
Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency	6.2	1,240,000	1,240,000
Canada Economic Development for Quebec Regions ^{xl}	10.2	2,040,000	1,658,833
Federal Economic Development Agency for Southern Ontario ^{xli}	4.5	869,210	397,308
Federal Economic Development Agency for Northern Ontario	4.5	890,000	890,000
Prairies Economic Development Canada (PrairiesCan) Formerly: Western Economic Diversification Canada	3.2	640,000	640,000
Pacific Economic Development Canada (PacifiCan) Formerly: Western Economic Diversification Canada	1.0	200,000	0
Canadian Northern Economic Development Agency	0.4	80,000	80,000
Public Health Agency of Canada – Historical Base			
Enhanced Early Childhood Health Promotion Programming ^{xlii}	10.9	2,180,000	3,012,335
Canada Council for the Arts – Historical Base		ı	

Initiatives	Total Allocated 2023–2028 (in millions of dollars) ⁱ	Planned Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)	Actual Spending 2023–2024 (in dollars)
Market Access Strategy for Artists from OLMCs ^{xliii}	2.8	550,000	584,640
National Research Council Canada – Historic	al Base		
Strengthening Language Industries and Technologies	10.0	2,000,000	2,350,480
Public Services and Procurement Canada (Translation Bureau) – Historical Base			
Language Portal of Canada	16.0	3,200,000	3,193,825
Statistics Canada – Historical Base			
Additional, Ongoing Support to the Language Statistics Section of Statistics Canada	3.0	599,454	599,454
Statistics Canada – New Funds in Action Plan	n 2023–2028		
Helping Provide Access to Data on the Estimated Number of Children of Rights Holders (Children Eligible for Instruction in the Minority Official Language)	2.0	433,320	433,320
Total			
Total – Historical Base	2,705.7	537,948,485	548,946,997
Total – New Funds in Action Plan 2023– 2028	1,387.8	200,033,250	182,677,570

Initiatives	Total Allocated	Planned Spending	Actual Spending
	2023–2028	2023–2024	2023–2024
	(in millions of dollars) ⁱ	(in dollars)	(in dollars)
Total Government Investments in Official Languages	4,093.4	737,981,735	731,624,567

Appendix 2 – 2023–2024 Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Component

Table 2: Expenditures of Canadian Heritage's Official Languages Support Programs – Grand Total

Program	Expenditures
Development of Official Language Communities Program	374,999,836
Enhancement of Official Languages Program	206,620,129
Grand Total	581,619,965

Table 3: Expenditures of the Development of Official Language Communities Program by Component

Component	Sub-Component	Expenditures
Community Life	Cooperation with the Community Sector	49,248,935
	Intergovernmental Cooperation on Minority-Language Services ^{xliv}	34,166,709
	Fund for the English-Speaking Communities of Quebec	1,299,901
	Strategic Fund ^{xlv}	6,641,367
	Strategic Support Fund – Post-Secondary Sector	2,677,655
	Civic Community School Support	1,500,000
	Strategic Support – Community Media	1,500,000
	Community Media Internships in Minority Settings	1,094,508
	Community Infrastructure	10,262,361
	Community Cultural Action Fund	3,155,344
	Community Cultural Action Fund – Micro-Grants	2,177,883
	Young Canada Works	2,667,677
	Subtotal: "Community Life" Component	116,392,340
Minority-Language Education	Intergovernmental Cooperation on Minority-Language Education (Protocol)	151,390,291
	Enhancements to Agreements	27,600,001
	Supporting Post-Secondary Education in the Minority Language	32,924,709

Component	Sub-Component	Expenditures
	Complementary Funds	7,281,038
	Recruitment of French-Speaking Teachers for Minority- Language Schools	10,872,708
	Complementary Support for Language Learning	3,703,911
	Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector	2,246,825
	Community Educational Infrastructure	7,892,062
	Support for Community Spaces - Infrastructure	14,695,951
	Subtotal: "Minority-Language Education" Component	258,607,496
All Components	Total	374,999,836

Table 4: Expenditures of the Enhancement of Official Languages Program by Component

Component	Sub-Component	Expenditures
Promotion of Linguistic	Appreciation and Rapprochement	5,238,467
Duality	Promotion of Bilingual Services	340,696
	Support for Interpretation and Translation	497,500
	Subtotal: "Promotion of Linguistic Duality" Component	6,076,663
Second-Language Learning	Intergovernmental Cooperation on Second-Language Learning (Protocol)	84,130,181
	Enhancements to Agreements	66,003,890
	Supporting Post-Secondary Education in the Minority Language	2,110,071
	Complementary Funds	342,141
	Recruiting French Immersion and French Second- Language Teachers	5,643,991
	Complementary Support for Language Learning	33,727,780
	Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector	3,067,739
	Bursaries for Post-Secondary Education in French as a Second Language	2,850,000
	Young Canada Works in Both Official Languages	2,667,673
	Subtotal: "Second-Language Learning" Component	200,543,466
All Components	Total	206,620,129

Appendix 3 – 2023–2024 Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Province or Territory

Table 5: Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Province or Territory

Province or Territory	Development of Official Language Communities Program	Enhancement of Official Languages Program	Total by Province or Territory
Newfoundland and Labrador	5,413,563	5,188,064	10,601,627
Prince Edward Island	5,954,380	2,250,814	8,205,194
Nova Scotia	17,706,008	6,740,547	24,446,555
New Brunswick	37,113,509	11,400,587	48,514,096
Quebec	63,669,074	22,497,278	86,166,352
Ontario	114,991,528	53,606,354	168,597,882
Manitoba	18,110,271	9,848,604	27,958,875
Saskatchewan	13,555,277	9,848,604	22,603,805
Alberta	24,551,644	16,708,933	41,260,577
British Columbia	20,398,745	21,186,524	41,260,577
Northwest Territories	10,712,271	1,897,381	12,609,652
Yukon	8,683,348	1,448,340	10,131,688
Nunavut	6,369,617	586,450	6,956,067
National	17,018,079	2,879,977	19,898,056
Complementary Support for Language Learning: Explore and Destination Clic	1,018,649	22,474,340	23,492,989
Complementary Support for Language Learning: Odyssey	2,745,262	11,313,440	14,058,702
Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector / Education	6,455,106	7,010,464	13,465,570
Young Canada Works	533,505	533,504	1,067,009
Total	374,999,836	206,620,129	581,619,965

Table 6: Expenditures of the Official Languages Support Programs by Province or Territory

Province or Territory	"Community Life" Component	"Minority-Language Education" Component	Sub-Total by Province or Territory
Newfoundland and Labrador	3,600,608	1,812,955	5,413,563
Prince Edward Island	3,524,786	2,429,594	5,954,380
Nova Scotia	6,182,625	11,523,383	17,706,008
New Brunswick	11,174,270	25,939,239	37,113,509
Quebec	12,313,049	51,356,025	63,669,074
Ontario	15,708,554	99,160,931	114,991,528
Manitoba	7,460,529	10,649,742	18,110,271
Saskatchewan	5,873,340	7,681,937	13,555,277
Alberta	7,333,183	17,218,461	24,551,644
British Columbia	6,633,833	13,764,912	20,398,745
Northwest Territories	6,909,210	3,803,061	10,712,271
Yukon	6,934,315	1,749,033	8,683,348
Nunavut	5,192,454	1,177,163	6,369,617
National	17,018,079	-	
Complementary Support for Language Learning: Explore and Destination Clic	-	1,018,649	-
Complementary Support for Language Learning: Odyssey	-	2,745,262	-
Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector / Education	-	6,455,106	-
Young Canada Works	533,505	-	
Total	116,392,340	258,607,496	374,999,836

Table 7: Expenditures of the "Community Life" Component of the Development of Official Language Communities Program by Province and Territory

Province or Territory	Support to Organizations	Support to Provincial and Territorial Governments ^{xlvi} (Minority-Language Services)	Sub-Total by Province or Territory
Newfoundland and Labrador	2,257,835	1,342,773	3,600,608
Prince Edward Island	2,172,792	1,351,994	3,524,786
Nova Scotia	4,535,879	1,646,746	6,182,625
New Brunswick	8,901,035	2,273,235	11,174,270
Quebec	12,313,049	-	12,313,049
Ontario	11,708,554	4,000,000	15,708,554
Manitoba	5,483,825	1,976,704	7,460,529
Saskatchewan	4,340,198	1,533,142	5,873,340
Alberta	5,083,386	2,249,797	7,333,183
British Columbia	5,034,559	1,599,274	6,633,833
Northwest Territories	1,009,210	5,900,000	6,909,210
Yukon	1,124,315	5,810,000	6,934,315
Nunavut	709,410	4,483,044	5,192,454
National	17,018,079	-	
Young Canada Works	533,505	-	
Total	82,225,631	34,166,709	116,392,340

Table 8: Expenditures of the Enhancement of Official Languages Program by Province or Territory

Province or Territory	"Promotion of Linguistic Duality" Component	"Second-Language Learning" Component	Sub-Total by Province or Territory
Newfoundland and Labrador	189,559	4,998,505	5,188,064
Prince Edward Island	156,470	2,094,344	2,250,814
Nova Scotia	302,409	6,438,138	6,740,547
New Brunswick	359,275	11,041,312	11,400,587
Quebec	262,437	22,234,841	22,497,278
Ontario	522,115	53,084,239	53,606,354
Manitoba	216,422	9,632,182	9,848,604
Saskatchewan	212,846	8,835,682	9,048,528
Alberta	351,313	16,357,620	16,708,933
British Columbia	570,340	20,616,184	21,186,524
Northwest Territories	53,500	1,843,881	1,897,381
Yukon	-	1,448,340	1,448,340
Nunavut	-	586,450	586,450
National	2,879,977	-	
Complementary Support for Language Learning: Explore and Destination Clic	-	22,474,340	
Complementary Support for Language Learning: Odyssey	-	11,313,440	
Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector / Education	-	7,010,464	
Young Canada Works	-	533,504	
Total	6,076,663	200,543,466	206,620,129

Appendix 4 – 2023–2024 Education Expenditures

Table 9: Breakdown of Education Expenditures – Support to Provincial and Territorial Governments

	Minority-Language Education	Second-Language Learning	Total
Bilateral Agreements	151,390,291	84,130,181	235,520,472
Enhancements	27,600,001	66,003,890	93,603,891
Complementary Funds	7,281,038	342,141	7,623,179
Infrastructure	22,588,013	-	22,588,013
Post-Secondary	32,924,709	2,110,071	35,034,780
Teacher Recruitment and Retention Strategy	6,542,384	4,551,266	11,093,650
Total	248,326,436	157,137,549	405,463,985

Table 10: Breakdown of Education Expenditures – Support to Organizations

	Minority-Language Education	Second-Language Learning	Total
Cooperation with the Non-Governmental Sector	2,246,825	3,067,739	5,314,564
Second-Language Post-Secondary Scholarships	-	2,850,000	-
Teacher Recruitment and Retention Strategy	4,330,324	1,092,725	5,423,049
Young Canada Works	-	2,667,673	2,667,673
Complementary Support for Language Learning (CMEC)	3,703,911	33,727,780	37,431,691
Total	10,281,060	43,405,917	53,686,977

Table 11: Minority-Language Education Expenditures by Province or Territory – Intergovernmental Cooperation

Province or Territory	Bilateral Agreements	Complementary Funds	Enhancements – Agreements	Post- Secondary	Infrastructure	Teacher Recruitment and Retention Strategy	Total by Province or Territory
Newfoundland and Labrador	1,301,551	-	405,404	-	-	106,000	1,812,955
Prince Edward Island	1,545,732	12,500	481,461	220,000	88,651	81,250	2,429,594
Nova Scotia	3,896,725	441,000	1,213,744	-	5,456,914	515,000	11,523,383
New Brunswick	16,363,444	123,275	1,729,674	5,549,429	1,224,994	948,423	25,939,239
Quebec	46,525,473	-	4,830,552	-	-	-	51,356,025
Ontario	54,992,678	6,517,513	11,419,336	17,190,623	6,918,318	2,122,463	99,160,931
Manitoba	6,774,749	-	703,395	1,240,048	1,883,050	48,500	10,649,742
Saskatchewan	2,693,018	-	838,816	2,073,793	1,727,310	349,000	7,681,937
Alberta	7,102,913	-	2,205,665	2,070,566	5,288,776	550,541	17,218,461
British Columbia	6,719,177	-	2,507,012	2,838,250	-	1,700,473	13,764,912
Northwest Territories	1,382,850	126,750	430,727	1,742,000	-	120,734	3,803,061
Yukon	1,235,800	-	513,233	-	-	-	1,749,033
Nunavut	856,181	-	320,982	-		-	1,177,163
Total	151,390,291	7,221,038	27,600,001	32,924,709	22,588,013	6,542,384	248,266,436

Table 12: Second-Language Learning Expenditures by Province or Territory – Intergovernmental Cooperation

Province or Territory	Bilateral Agreements	Complementary Funds	Enhancements – Agreements	Post- Secondary	Teacher Recruitment and Retention Strategy	Total by Province or Territory
Newfoundland and Labrador	2,639,295	-	2,359,210	-	-	4,998,505
Prince Edward Island	1,076,602	72,500	673,992	-	271,250	2,094,344
Nova Scotia	3,761,355	-	2,676,783	-	-	6,438,138
New Brunswick	5,339,248	-	4,882,650	-	471,500	10,693,398
Quebec	18,406,662	-	3,407,949	-	-	21,814,611
Ontario	24,090,634	209,641	28,072,755	139,505	-	52,512,535
Manitoba	5,540,451	-	3,812,328	-	279,403	9,632,182
Saskatchewan	4,039,526	-	3,911,047	-	524,649	8,475,222
Alberta	7,102,912	-	6,695,771	1,970,566	588,371	16,357,620
British Columbia	9,385,241	-	8,445,155	-	2,351,927	20,182,323
Northwest Territories	1,204,705	-	575,010	-	64,166	1,843,881
Yukon	977,100	-	471,240	-	-	1,448,340
Nunavut	566,450	-	20,000	-	-	586,450
Total	84,130,181	282,141	66,003,890	2,110,071	4,551,266	157,077,549

Appendix 5 – School Enrolment in 2022–2023×Ivii

Table 13: Enrolment in Second-Language Instruction Programs in Majority System Schools – Total for Canada as a Whole

Time of Second Language		Total Enrolment	_	guage (including nersion)	French l	mmersion
Type of Second-Language Instruction Program	Year	in Majority System Schools	Enrolment	Percentage (of total enrolment)	Enrolment	Percentage (of total enrolment)
Total – Students in majority systems taking French as a	1983– 1984 ^{xlviii}	4,401,997	2,199,253	50%	117,454	2.7%
second language or English as a second language	2022–2023	4,788,195	2,535,261	52.9%	474,150	9.9%
Total – English-speaking students in majority systems learning French as	1983– 1984 ^{xlix}	3,464,272	1,607,335	46.4%	117,454	3.4%
a second language (Canada outside Quebec)	2022–2023	3,873,585	1,723,854	44.5%	474,150	12.2%
Total – Students in the French-language education	1983– 1984 ⁱ	937,725	591,918	63.1%	0	0
system learning English as a second language in Quebec	2022–2023	914,610	811,407	88.7%	0	0

Table 14: Enrolment in Minority-Language Education Programs – All of Canada

Scope	Year	Total School Enrolment	Enrolment in Minority-Language School System	Classes	Minority System Share of Total School Enrolment
Canada as a whole	1983–1984 ^{li}	4,682,999	281,002	-	6%
	2022–2023	5,047,320	259,125	-	5.1%
Canada outside Quebec	1983– 1984 ^{lii}	3,634,315	152,594	-	4.2%
	2022–2023	4,048,047	174,462	-	4.3%

Table 15: Enrolment in Second-Language Instruction Programs in Majority Education System Schools by Province or Territory

		Total Enrolment	Second Language (including immersion)		French Immersion	
Province or Territory	Year	in Majority System Schools	Enrolment	Percentage (of total enrolment)	Enrolment	Percentage (of total enrolment)
Newfoundland and Labrador	1983–1984	147,500	75,056	50.9%	970	0.7%
	2022–2023	63,663	36,366	57.1%	10,284	16.2%
Prince Edward Island	1983–1984	24,964	15,911	63.7%	1,833	7.3%
	2022–2023	20,196	12,165	60.2%	5,115	25.3%
Nova Scotia	1983–1984	172,770	95,201	55.1%	894	0.5%
Nova Scotia	2022–2023	122,520	60,708	49.5%	15,822	12.9%
New Brunswick	1983–1984	98,284	70,289	71.5%	11,009	11.2%
New Brunswick	2022–2023	72,984	49,065	67.2%	24,474	33.5%
Quebec	1983–1984	937,725	591,918	63.1%	0	0
Quebec	2022–2023	914,610	811,407	88.7%	0	0
Ontario	1983–1984	1,682,302	909,290	54.1%	65,310	3.9%
Ontario	2022–2023	1,942,197	1,016,616	52.3%	275,193	14.2%
Manitoba	1983–1984	194,182	91,058	46.9%	9,090	4.7%
Manicoba	2022–2023	181,557	79,149	43.6%	28,023	15.4%
Saskatchewan	1983–1984	200,362	52,324	26.1%	4,018	2%
Saskatchewan	2022–2023	184,863	42,564	23.0%	16,890	9.1%
Alberta	1983–1984	447,759	120,868	27%	14,523	3.2%
Albeita	2022–2023	688,653	179,820	26.1%	43,593	6.3%
British Columbia	1983–1984	496,149	177,338	35.7%	9,807	2%
DITUSTI CUTUITIDIA	2022–2023	560,139	238,731	42.6%	53,241	9.5%
Yukon	1984–1985	4,667	2,221	47.6%	186	4%
TUROII	2022–2023	5,463	2,481	45.4%	936	17.1%

Province or Territory	Year	Total Enrolment in Majority System Schools	Second Language (including immersion)		French Immersion	
			Enrolment	Percentage (of total enrolment)	Enrolment	Percentage (of total enrolment)
Northwest Territories	1990–1991	14,016	4,360	31.1%	404	2.9%
	2022–2023	8,208	2,724	33.2%	990	12.1%
Nunavut	2002–2003	8,861	0	N/A	0	N/A
	2022–2023	10,869	0	N/A	0	N/A

Table 16: Enrolment in Minority-Language Education Programs by Province or Territory^{liii}

Province or Territory	Year	Total School Enrolment	Enrolment in Minority-Language School System	Classes	Minority System Share of Total School Enrolment
Newfoundland and Labrador	1983–1984	147,603	103	Kindergarten to 12	0.1%
	2022–2023	64,020	357	Kindergarten to 12	0.6%
Prince Edward Island	1983–1984	25,480	516	1 to 12	2%
	2022–2023	21,408	1,212	Kindergarten to 12	5.7%
Nova Scotia	1983–1984	177,240	4,470	Kindergarten to 12	2.5%
	2022–2023	129,120	6,600	Kindergarten to 12	5.1%
New Brunswick	1983–1984	146,045	47,761	Kindergarten to 12	32.7%
	2022–2023	102,846	29,862	Kindergarten to 12	29.0%
Quebec	1983–1984	1,066,133	128,408	Kindergarten to 11	12%
	2022–2023	999,273	84,663	Kindergarten to 11	8.5%
Ontario	1983–1984	1,773,478	91,176	Kindergarten to 12	5.1%
	2022–2023	2,054,133	111,936	Kindergarten to 12	5.4%
Manitoba	1983–1984	199,743	5,561	Kindergarten to 12	2.8%
	2022–2023	187,536	5,979	Kindergarten to 12	3.2%
Saskatchewan	1983–1984	201,130	768	Kindergarten to 12	0.4%

Province or Territory	Year	Total School Enrolment	Enrolment in Minority-Language School System	Classes	Minority System Share of Total School Enrolment
	2022–2023	186,981	2,118	Kindergarten to 12	1.1%
Alberta	1983–1984	448,835	1,076	Kindergarten to 12	0.2%
	2022–2023	698,091	9,438	Kindergarten to 12	1.4%
British Columbia	1983–1984	497,312	1,163	Kindergarten to 12	0.1%
	2022–2023	578,679	6,267	Kindergarten to 12	1.1%
Yukon	1984–1985	4,697	30	Kindergarten to 8	0.6%
	2022–2023	5,808	345	Kindergarten to 12	5.9%
Northwest Territories	1990–1991	14,079	63	Kindergarten to 11	0.4%
	2022–2023	8,451	243	Kindergarten to 12	2.9%
Nunavut	2002–2003	8,901	40	Kindergarten to 12	0.4%
	2022–2023	10,974	105	Kindergarten to 12	1.0%

present these adjustments and the up-to-date five-year financial forecasts further to Parliament's budgetary decisions.

¹ The financial data for the new investments presented in the Action Plan 2023–2028 public document are consistent with the figures approved by the Minister of Finance in 2023. These data were incorporated into the Government of Canada fiscal framework established at the time of Budget 2023. Some of these data may have changed over time. Some of the financial forecasts in the annexes to this report have been subject to slight adjustments after their initial publication in the public document of the Action Plan 2023-2028, specifically following the adoption of the Supplementary Estimates (C) by Parliament in March 2024. For detailed, up-to-date information, refer to the Accountability Framework for Action Plan 2023–2028 and Canadian Heritage's Annual Reports on Official Languages published as of fiscal year 2023–2024, which

- The total amount allocated to the 2023 to 2028 period is higher than that announced in April 2023, as it includes the complementary funds that had been calculated in the overall budget forecasts for the Support for Community Spaces Infrastructure initiative. The logic of this approach is to fully capture the financial resources allocated to the initiative.
- iii A portion of the complementary funds allocated to second-language learning projects was not used. The unused funds were transferred internally.
- ^{iv} The total amount allocated to the 2023 to 2028 period is higher than that announced in April 2023, as it includes the complementary funds that had been calculated in the overall budget forecasts for the Support for Community Spaces Infrastructure initiative. The logic of this approach is to fully capture the financial resources allocated to the initiative.
- ^v In 2023–2024, an additional \$2,085,426 was made available due to a reprofiling of funds from a previous fiscal year. Canadian Heritage was able to spend this additional amount.
- vi The total amount allocated for this envelope is lower than announced in April 2023 due to adjustments. This change reflects a budget breakdown that seeks to distinguish more clearly between the various sources of funding but that has no impact on the overall commitments under the Support for Community Spaces Infrastructure initiative. The complementary funds are divided between the following two envelopes: (1) Minority-language education and (2) second-language learning.
- vii The variance between planned spending and actual spending reflects the fact that the Government of Quebec and Canadian Heritage were unable to reach a bilateral agreement for fiscal year 2023–2024 and the fact that the territories did not spend their entire budget. The amount unspent by the territories (\$906,956) was returned to the Treasury Board.
- viii The variance between planned and actual spending is explained by the fact that fewer recruitment and retention requests are being received for French as a second language than for French as a minority language. During the year, the breakdown of funding between French as a second language and French as a minority language is adjusted in response to demand from the Ps/Ts and national organizations. In addition, \$400,000 of the budget was not spent and was transferred to another official languages program.
- ix Idem.
- ^x The variance between planned and actual spending is mainly attributable to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Given that many funded projects are heavily focused on travel and face-to-face interaction, these activities were disrupted in 2023–2024. As a result, the recipient language-exchange organization, Experiences Canada, faced challenges related to reduced participation and engagement. The lower-than-normal participation rate meant that not all the funds allocated to the project could be spent.
- xi The reduced number of applicants, as well as the residual impact of COVID-19 on the printing and publishing industry, had an impact on the grants awarded by the Canada Council for the Arts under the translation program. The total amount includes the grants awarded to Canadian literary publisher applicants who were seeking to translate works from one official language to the other (\$574,210), as well as the funding for the Translation Rights Fair held at the Salon du livre de Montréal (\$47,475) and the administrative costs incurred by the Canada Council for the Arts in administering the program (\$62,319 as per the Memorandum of Understanding between Canadian Heritage and the Canada Council for the Arts). The unspent balance (\$114,496) was returned to the Treasury Board.

xii This is time-limited funding for the 2023 to 2028 period.

- xiii The increased funding allocated to the program in 2023–2024 to support minority-language education was not spent in full. As a result of the process for obtaining financial authorities, the funds to be spent in 2023–2024 were received by the program mid-fiscal year. The provincial and territorial governments did not have the capacity to spend the available funds within the prescribed timeframe. An amount of \$9,100,000 was partially transferred internally, specifically to Complementary Funds, and returned to the Consolidated Revenue Fund (Receiver General).
- xiv Program authorized to reprofile the funds from fiscal year 2021–2022 to fiscal year 2023–2024 in order to be able to spend the funds allocated over three years (2021–2022 to 2023–2024).
- ^{xv} Some provincial and territorial governments authorized to reprofile the funds from fiscal year 2021–2022 to fiscal year 2023–2024 in order to be able to spend the funds allocated over three years (2021–2022 to 2023–2024). The residual amount from the early childhood projects was transferred to another official languages program.
- xvi In 2023–2024, an additional \$1,072,886 was made available due to a reprofiling of funds from a previous fiscal year. Canadian Heritage was able to spend this additional amount.
- xvii The contribution agreement with the Fédération de la jeunesse canadienne-française was signed in August 2024. No activity in 2023–2024.
- xviii The variance is mainly attributable to a reduction in training and lower-than-anticipated travel expenses.
- xix The program exceeded its planned spending target for 2023–2024 by almost \$11,755,119. The variance is due to an additional investment of \$298 million over three years in Budget 2021. This additional funding made it possible to support more projects aimed at improving the foundational and transferable skills of Canadians in official language minority communities.
- xx The variance is mainly attributable to scaled-back training and lower-than-anticipated travel expenses.
- ^{xxi} The variance between planned and actual spending is explained by the fact that the Treasury Board decision was made later than originally expected. Treasury Board issued its decision in December, and a funding call was issued in January using operating resources. Due to the delays incurred in managing the funding call, the agreements were not signed in time, and the projects will be unable to start before 2024–2025. The unspent amounts could not be redirected to other programs.
- The program did not spend the \$6 million allocated to grants and contributions under the new Employment Assistance Services stream in 2023–2024, as the funding became available only at the end of the fiscal year, i.e. in late March 2024.
- xxiii Actual expenditures were higher than anticipated due to departmental reallocations.
- xxiv The variance between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were.

The variance between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. The variances between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 can be explained first by the receipt of funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), which made it impossible to disburse the funds before year end. In addition, in 2023–2024, the Strengthened Integration Pathway initiative was in the analysis phase vis-à-vis project submissions received in response to the call for proposals. As the main focus this year was building capacity and issuing the call for proposals, not funding projects, fewer expenses were incurred.

Immigration initiative. IRCC considers the envelopes and results of the two projects as forming part of a single initiative. The variance between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. As IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. In addition, in 2023–2024 the Policy on Francophone Immigration initiative was in the planning and preparation phase vis-àvis its activities, not the implementation phase. As the main focus this year was developing the initiative, fewer expenses were incurred.

The variance between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were.

the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. In addition, in 2023–2024 the Policy on Francophone Immigration initiative was in the planning and preparation phase vis-à-vis its activities, not the implementation phase. As the main focus this year was developing the initiative, fewer expenses were incurred.

The variance between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. In the case of the Targeted Expansion of Promotion and Recruitment Support initiative, the variance can also be attributed to the fact that a significant proportion of the planned spending was to pay the salaries of new hires for this initiative. Now in most cases, the hiring process took at least six months to complete. This resulted in a significant reduction in salary expenditures and goes a long way towards explaining the variances for 2023–2024.

The variance between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were.

woxi The variances between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 can be explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of the new Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. In addition, in 2023–2024, the Strengthened Integration Pathway initiative was in the analysis phase vis-à-vis project submissions received in response to the call for proposals. As the main focus this year was building capacity and issuing the call for proposals, not funding projects, fewer expenses were incurred.

The variance between planned and actual spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. In addition, in 2023–2024 the Centre for Innovation in Francophone Immigration initiative was in the planning and preparation phase vis-à-vis its activities, not the implementation phase. More specifically, the initiative was focused on analyzing project proposals, and no announcements were planned for this first year of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, this initial phase naturally generated fewer expenditures.

the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. In addition, in 2023–2024 the Analysis and Optimization of Economic Immigration Programs to Support the Selection of Francophones was in the planning and preparation phase vis-à-vis its activities, not the implementation phase. In fact, this initiative was more focused on analyzing the economic programs before moving on to the optimization phase. The expenditure variances for this first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 can be explained by the lower funding requirements for analysis activities.

the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending for the first year of Action Plan 2023–2028 is explained first by the fact that royal assent—needed to validate spending authorities and funding—was not received until the fourth quarter of 2023–2024. As IRCC received the funding late in the fiscal year (March 2024), it was unable to disburse the full amount before year end. Given that IRCC had adopted a sectoral approach, some sectors elected to risk-manage the delayed funding by allocating only part of their planned resources to the initiative, partly explaining the surpluses observed in the first year. Lastly, the delayed funding also created issues in terms of financial coding in this first year of implementation of Action Plan 2023–2028. As a result, the financial coding failed to reflect actual salary-related expenditures on certain measures of Action Plan 2023–2028 in an adequate and timely manner, making the variances seem larger than they were. In addition, in 2023–2024 the Helping Newcomers Learn English and/or French initiative was awaiting the implementation of new funding agreements and therefore naturally generated fewer expenses.

xxxx A portion of the grant-and-contribution funds from the Networks, Training and Access-to-Justice Services initiative were reallocated to the New Positive Measures initiative.

The variance between planned spending and actual spending is explained by the fact that some provinces and territories had not yet agreed to implement the *Contraventions Act* regime and therefore received no funding. The negotiations and progress achieved depend largely on the priorities, and therefore the capacity, of the provinces and territories. The funds will not be fully committed until all jurisdictions have signed agreements.

At the start of fiscal year 2023–2024, \$1 million in core funding was available to the Access to Justice in Both Official Languages Support Fund. This amount was fully committed to 14 multi-year funding agreements. Thanks to Action Plan 2023–2028, additional core funding of \$500,000 was made available in 2023–2024. To make it possible to commit these funds, the 14 recipients were asked to provide new budgets for 2023–2024. The total value of the revised budgets was \$162,871. This amount reflects the organizations' needs as presented in their budgets for the period following Treasury Board approval of the new funds. This amount was approved, and the 14 existing core funding agreements were amended to reflect the additional funding.

xxxxiii The actual grant-and-contribution expenditure exceeds planned spending, as additional funds from the renewed Networks, Training and Access-to-Justice Services initiative were reallocated to the New Positive Measures initiative.

voxix Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada has adopted robust financial planning practices for operations and maintenance. The lower expenditure relative to the \$320,000 allocated is due in part to the fact that there were no face-to-face Dialogue Days in fiscal year 2023–2024—these events having largely been held virtually since the pandemic—and to the smaller number of requests for proposal received. It bears mentioning that this variance has no impact on achieving the objectives of the Economic Development Initiative.

- xiii Actual spending was higher than expected due to the internal reallocation of funds during the year to help communities develop comprehensive, culturally and linguistically appropriate programs to improve the health and development of children aged 0 to 6.
- The variance between planned and actual spending in 2023–2024 is attributable to the Canada Council for the Arts' base parliamentary appropriation.
- xliv Expenditures include increased support for French-language services in the territories.
- xlv Expenditures include capacity-building for strategic investments.
- xlvi These amounts are to support services in the minority language.
- xlvii The most recent data are for 2022–2023.
- xiviii The second language totals for 1983–1984 do not include Yukon, Northwest Territories or Nunavut, for which no data were available. For each of these jurisdictions, the most recent year for which data are available is used to establish the base year.
- xiix The second language totals for 1983–1984 do not include Yukon, Northwest Territories or Nunavut, for which no data were available. For each of these jurisdictions, the most recent year for which data are available is used to establish the base year.
- ¹ The second language totals for 1983–1984 do not include Yukon, Northwest Territories or Nunavut, for which no data were available. For each of these jurisdictions, the most recent year for which data are available is used to establish the base year.
- ^{II} The second language totals for 1983–1984 do not include Yukon, Northwest Territories or Nunavut, for which no data were available. For each of these jurisdictions, the most recent year for which data are available is used to establish the base year.
- ^{lii} The second language totals for 1983–1984 do not include Yukon, Northwest Territories or Nunavut, for which no data were available. For each of these jurisdictions, the most recent year for which data are available is used to establish the base year.
- Table 17 in the French version of the *Annual Report on Official Languages 2022–2023* should have been titled "Effectifs des programmes d'enseignement dans la langue de la minorité par province ou territoire." This clarification also applies to the French versions of previous annual reports.

^{xl} From 2019–2020 to 2022–2023, Canada Economic Development for Quebec Regions spent more than the allocated contribution envelope. Over the years, this deficit has been absorbed by the regular budget. In order to balance the budgets of programs that had contributed to the effort in recent years, in 2023–2024 the Economic Development Initiative reimbursed a portion of the past deficits.

xli Planned and actual amounts do not take into account costs related to employee benefit plans.